**RECEIVED**

**Mar 10 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES J. PATTERSON, III

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001474

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the court erred, by not conducting a Rule 403 balancing analysis, and by allowing defense witness Tamare Howell to be impeached with the fact that he had been convicted of a crime that carried more than one year's imprisonment in 2016, 2018, and 2019 where the underlying convictions were strong arm robbery and possession of less than one gram of methamphetamine or cocaine base in 2016, failure to stop for blue lights in 2018, and possession with intent to distribute- first offense in 2019, as these were not crimes of dishonesty and they should have been excluded under Rule 609 (a)(1), SCRE using a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis given that their probative value was substantially outweighed by their danger of undue prejudice even in the vague but prejudicial manner they were conveyed to the jury?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the September 2022 term of the Lexington County grand jury for the offenses of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 415-418. His case was called to trial on September 5, 2023, before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall and a jury. James M. Ervin represented appellant. Kinli Abee and Joel Kozak prosecuted the case for the Attorney General's Office. R. 1.

On September 7, 2023, the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 401, ll. 19-25. Judge Hall sentenced appellant to thirty-years' imprisonment for murder and a concurrent five-year term for the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 412, ll. 13-23

This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial [court’s] discretion, provided the [trial court] conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law.” State v. Dunlap, 346 S.C. 312, 324, 550 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct. App. 2001). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429-30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006).

## ARGUMENT

The court erred, by not conducting a Rule 403 balancing analysis, and by allowing defense witness Tamare Howell to be impeached with the fact that he had been convicted of a crime that carried more than one year's imprisonment in 2016, 2018, and 2019 where the underlying convictions were strong arm robbery and possession of less than one gram of methamphetamine or cocaine base in 2016, failure to stop for blue lights in 2018, and possession with intent to distribute- first offense in 2019, as these were not crimes of dishonesty and they should have been excluded under Rule 609 (a)(1), SCRE using a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis given their probative value was substantially outweighed by their danger of undue prejudice even in the vague but prejudicial manner they were conveyed to the jury

### **Introduction**

Two state's witnesses, Kenyatta Strother and Albert Clark testified they saw appellant shooting on the night the decedent William Clark was shot and killed after the dice gambling game at Clark's house. Conversely, Tamare Howell testified he was present when the shooting occurred, and that Albert Clark was the shooter. Appellant also testified that Albert Clark was the shooter that evening, and not him.

### **Relevant facts**

Kenyatta Strother was the long-time girlfriend of the decedent William Clark. The decedent was also the father of the youngest of her three children. R. 64, l. 11 - 65, l. 12. On November 9, 2020, "we had broken up but we were close." Strother was at the decedent's house on South Hampton Road in Red Bank that day and evening. There were "a lot of people there." R. 65, l. 4 - 71, l. 9.

Strother remembered that there was a lot of noise that evening because the men were playing dice and gambling. Strother maintained she stayed in the decedent's bedroom outside of the room where they were gambling. R. 71, ll. 4-22.

Strother maintained that she knew appellant was angry about someone allegedly having cheated him out of money during the dice game. She offered that appellant thought another man cheated him out of forty dollars. R. 72, l. 1 - 73, l. 14. Strother claimed that appellant walked up to a white Crown Vic outside of the house and that someone handed him a gun. Strother testified that appellant came back inside the house with the gun. "I see him just standing there nobody was around him. Like they had basically let it go. Nobody was around him and all of a sudden, he said 'don't push me...' nobody was around him when he said don't push me, that's when everybody jumped up like what are you talking about...he pulled the gun out and he shot it in the house." R. 75, l. 1 - 76, l. 9.

Strother said some of the other men got appellant out of the back door. R. 76, ll. 12-16. Strother apparently clarified: "I saw Joseph Patterson pacing back and forth and he jumped in the air, and he started shooting...he was shooting towards like the kitchen window...it was multiple shots." R. 79, ll. 6-20. On cross-examination, Strother claimed that only one gun was involved in the shooting that night. The following occurred on cross-examination of Strother:

Q. You don't recall stating to the prosecutor that there may have been another shooter that was with Mr. Patterson.

A. No.

Q. And you described that person as having wicks in his hair?

A. Hold up. Now I never said he was a shooter. I said he was with him.

Q. Okay. All right.

A. I never said he was a shooter.

R. 88, ll. 13-21.

Lexington County crime scene investigator Cody Weyandt testified that a large package was located in the decedent's bedroom which contained marijuana, tobacco, and cell phones wrapped in black tape. R. 131, ll. 9-19. There would be other evidence of widespread drug use at the decedent's house that evening.

Dr. Presnell, the pathologist, testified that the decedent died of a gunshot wound to his hip. R. 148, ll. 8-12. He had cocaine and marijuana in his bloodstream and a blood alcohol reading of 0.134. R. 149, l. 11 - 150, l. 7.

Albert Clark, the decedent's brother, testified that he came to visit the decedent that day and when the decedent decided to go to bed, he started playing dice with the other men in the house. R. 161, ll. 3-23. Albert Clark said appellant was one of the men playing dice that evening. At one point, Albert left the decedent's house to go to his nearby home to get more money. R. 162, l. 11 - 165, l. 3.

When Albert returned minutes later, he said that he heard gunshots and he claimed he saw appellant "shooting directly across the yard towards my brother and I seen [saw] my brother fall to the ground and I parked my truck and ran up to him and then they were exiting." R. 165, l. 4 -167, l. 13. Clark said he picked up the decedent and he and his cousin Donnie Clark drove him to the hospital where they left him. Clark claimed that they spoke to someone at the hospital where they dropped off the decedent before they left to return to the house. R. 167, l. 17 - 169, l. 1.

Lexington County deputy Arcadues DuBard testified that he stopped Albert Clark's vehicle that evening after he left the hospital. The vehicle was searched and "we located a

holster, a weapon holster, some type of weapon holster, an empty magazine believed to be a nine-millimeter. We also located a duffle bag that had some clothing in it as well.” The firearm was not in the vehicle at that time according to DuBard. R. 186, l. 3 - 188, l. 1.

On cross-examination, DuBard said the police received tips about the shooting and one said that: “William Clark was shot by his brother.” DuBard said there was no way to “follow up on that information” about Albert Clark being the shooter. R. 222, ll. 4-15.

### **Proposed impeachment**

Prior to the testimony of defense witness Tamare Howell, an in-camera hearing was held on the solicitor’s desire to impeach Howell pursuant to Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, with his strong-arm robbery and possession of less than one gram of meth or cocaine base convictions from 2016. In addition, the solicitor sought to impeach Howell with a 2018 conviction for failure to stop for a blue light and a possession with intent to distribute-first offense from 2019. R. 274, l. 10 - 275, l. 23.

Defense counsel argued under Rule 403, on the probative and prejudicial effect balancing test, that Howell’s prior record amounted to prior bad acts and that they were irrelevant. “We’re talking about a drug crime; we’re talking about a theft crime that he could have been a co-defendant for. Had it been check fraud, had it been computer hacking, had it been stealing from the government, stealing food stamps, et cetera, I can totally see how that would come in, but under these circumstances, Judge, these are crimes of circumstance.” Defense counsel Ervin maintained they were inadmissible after conducting a Rule 403 analysis. R. 276, l. 1 - 281, l. 14.

The judge ruled that he was going to allow the state to impeach Howell with these crimes but that the solicitor would only be allowed to ask Howell: “Were you convicted of a crime that

carried more than one year in 2016? Were you convicted of another crime in 2016? Were you convicted of a crime that carried more than one year in 2018?" R. 281, l. 15 - 282, l. 20.

The judge repeated that under Rule 609, the convictions carried more than one year and "I find in weighing those that goes to the probative value for the jury to determine his truthfulness." R. 283, l. 5 -284, l. 1.

Tamare Howell then testified that he was with appellant that evening and that appellant had won one-thousand dollars from Albert Clark during the gambling with dice games. R. 288, l. 16 - 289, l. 5. Howell remembered that appellant quit playing the dice game because he was not happy with Albert Clark who he thought had cheated him. Howell said when appellant tried to leave, one of the men pushed him and he bumped into a table. The decedent's .45 caliber pistol fell off of the table and discharged. R. 289, l. 4 - 290, l. 8.

Howell said that while the men were leaving the house after the gun discharged, he went inside the house to get a bag that he had forgotten. When he came back outside of the house, he saw Albert Clark was shooting at the burgundy sedan he came to the decedent's house in with appellant. This burgundy car was parked by a fence. R. 290, l. 2 - 291, l. 19.

Howell further testified that Albert was the shooter that night, and that while he did not see Albert actually shoot the decedent, he knew that the decedent was shot during that time. period. R. 292, l. 4 - 294, l. 22. Howell ran down the street while these shots were being fired and appellant picked him up on the side of the road and took him home. R. 294, l. 18 - 296, l. 6. Howell said he was not aware anybody had been definitely shot until later. R. 296, ll. 5-6.

### **The impeachment**

The following occurred immediately on cross-examination with Howell:

Q. All right. Mr. Howell, before we get into what happened that night, I want to go over a couple of things. And without telling us

what they are, you have, in fact, been convicted of a crime in 2016 that carries more than a year imprisonment; is that right?

A. Yes, ma'am.

MR. ERVIN: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I note your objection. I overruled the objection.<sup>1</sup>

BY MS. ABEE: I'm gonna ask that again. You were, in fact, convicted of a crime in 2016 that carried more than a year imprisonment, right, sir?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. And, again, in 2018, right?

A. 2018? Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. And, again, in 2019, right?

A. Yes, ma'am.

R. 299, l. 10 - 300, l. 12.

**Appellant testifies in his own defense.**

Appellant testified that at about noon on November 9, 2020, he borrowed his cousin Stephanie Glover's car. Appellant and Tamare Howell then drove Glover's burgundy Ford to the decedent's house on South Hampton Street in Red Bank. R. 316, ll. 3-22. Appellant parked the car on the side of the house by a fence. Appellant remembered Donny Clark's truck being parked there as well as a white Crown Vic. R. 317, ll. 13-23.

Appellant testified that a dice game started with two people, and more people then joined in. Albert Clark and Donnie Clark were drinking, snorting cocaine, and smoking marijuana at the time. They were also drinking Jim Beam. R. 319, ll. 3-17.

---

<sup>1</sup> Defense counsel timely objected to the impeachment although an additional objection was not required since the judge's ruling was not an *in limine* ruling since there was a break following the judge's ruling and Howell's testimony.

While appellant did not drink, he admitted to smoking marijuana that night. Appellant said that the decedent was in his bedroom with the door closed when the gambling began. Albert Clark was beside appellant “the whole time. The living room wasn’t so big.” R. 319, l. 16 – 320, l. 7. Appellant identified a photograph of the decedent’s bedroom, which had marijuana, cell phones, and tobacco “taped up.” R. 320, ll. 11-23. Appellant said he was not shooting or rolling the dice, but he was engaged in side-betting with Albert Clark that evening. “We was [were] betting a hundred dollars every roll.” R. 321, ll. 4-19.

Appellant was not happy about “a call” that he did not think was fair on a side-bet, so he decided he was not going to “side-bet with you [Albert] no more. I can’t do it.” R. 322, ll. 3-17. Appellant remembered getting a phone call from his cousin Stephanie Glover at about ten o’clock that evening that she was getting ready to get off work. Appellant said Albert Clark owed him two-hundred dollars at the time and appellant asked for his money. “I sat back and waited on my money.” R. 322, l. 18 – 323, l. 5.

Appellant said Donnie Clark tried to give him the money that Albert Clark owed him, but he told Donnie: “I want my money from Albert, it’s only fair.” R. 323, l. 9 - 324, l. 9. Appellant said he was on his way out the door when Donnie Clark grabbed him. This knocked William Clark’s gun off the of the table and it discharged. R. 324, l. 5 - 325, l. 24.

Appellant then left through the side door and walked towards his car. He sat in the car with the door open counting his money. Appellant remembered Howell telling him that Albert Clark was getting ready to shoot, and then he heard six gunshots, and he dove to the ground. R. 326, l. 11 - 327, l. 21. Appellant described how he crawled to the back of the car to shield himself from the bullets. R. 327, l. 22 – 328, l. 15.

Appellant testified that he saw Albert Clark with a gun when he heard the gunshots, and when the shooting stopped, he jumped in his car and drove away. He picked up Howell on a nearby dirt road. Appellant described there were at least two bullet holes in his cousin's car that occurred before he was able to drive away. R. 330, l. 2 - 331, l. 12. Appellant testified he never had a gun that evening. R. 333, ll. 12-13.

### **The borrowed car witness**

Stephanie Glover, appellant's cousin, testified that she worked at Prisma Health Baptist Hospital. Stephanie acknowledged she often allowed appellant to drive her vehicle, a burgundy Ford Focus. R. 347, ll. 8-24.

She let appellant to borrow the car again on November 9, 202. Stephanie remembered when appellant returned the car that it had a bullet hole in it. She could only remember one bullet hole, but she said "he was definitely honest when he brought the car back. He told me about it, and I was more concerned to make sure he was safe, if anything." R. 348, l. 15 - 349, l. 7; 350, ll. 22-24.

### **Closing arguments**

In her closing argument, the solicitor said that Kenyatta Strother had testified that she saw appellant with a gun when the shooting began, and she also offered that Albert Clark said appellant was the shooter. The solicitor acknowledged the differing testimony of Tamare Howell about Albert Clark being the shooter and appellant's testimony also stating that Albert was the shooter. The solicitor urged the defense testimony was not credible. R. 359, l. 18 - 375, l. 19.

Defense counsel acknowledged that the jury had heard “two theories of this case” and that appellant was not guilty since the state had failed to prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. R. 377, l. 18 - 383, l. 7.

### **Discussion**

None of the underlying convictions that led to key defense witness Howell being impeached were crimes of dishonesty pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE. Consequently, under Rule 609 (a)(1), SCRE, the underlying crimes were only admissible for impeachment if they involved a criminal sentence of longer than one year, and after conducting a Rule 403, SCRE analysis, the trial judge found that their probative value was not substantially outweighed by their danger of undue prejudice. The judge conducted no Rule 403, SCRE analysis in this case. He only stated: “I find in weighing those that goes to the probative value for the jury to determine his truthfulness.” R. 283, l. 5 -284, l. 1. That respectfully was not a weighing analysis, and appellant’s conviction should be reversed for that reason.

“Although Colf<sup>2</sup> focused on the admission of prior convictions more than ten years old under Rule 609(b), our courts have also consistently applied these factors for purposes of a Rule 609(a)(1) analysis. See *e.g.*, Bryant, 369 S.C. at 517 n.1, 633 S.E.2d at 155 n.1.” State v. Robinson, 426 S.C 579, 594, 828 S.E.2d 203, 211 (2019). While the judge here conducted no analysis the underlying crimes had no impeachment value since they were not indicative of Howell’s believability, and Howell’s testimony was very important in this case.

Further, drug convictions, a failure to stop for a blue light conviction, and a strong-arm robbery conviction did not reflect upon Howell’s credibility in any way. These convictions did not aid the jury in discerning the truth as to whether Howell should be believed because of his

---

<sup>2</sup> State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000).

past convictions. As our Supreme Court held in State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 517, 633 S.E.2d 152, 155-56 (2006): “Violations of narcotics laws are generally not probative of truthfulness. See State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 S.C. (2001) (citing State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000)). Furthermore, a conviction for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession, beyond the basic crime itself, is not probative of truthfulness. United States v. Smith, 181 F.Supp.2d 904 (N.D.Ill.2002).” Similarly, appellant submits, a conviction for failure to stop for a blue light is not probative of Howell’s credibility or his believability as a witness.

Defense counsel in this case noted that the convictions were more suited to simply get Howell’s “prior bad acts” before the jury which would certainly be an improper reason for allowing them for impeachment. As this Court stated in State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 478, 779 S.E.2d 789, 794 (2015), “ultimately the rule was designed to help the jury discern the truth. It is not a tool for the state to bolster its case against the criminal defendant for the mere fact that the defendant has engaged in prior criminal activity.”

In State v. Broadnax, our Supreme Court held that the crime of armed robbery required a Rule 403, SCRE balancing test pursuant to Rule 609 (a)(1), SCRE before it could be used for impeachment. Howell’s convictions for strong arm robbery, failure to stop for a blue light, and possession of methamphetamine or cocaine and another drug offense also mandated a Rule 403, balancing test that was not conducted on the record by the trial court.

In State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 597, 828 S.E.2d 203, 212 (2019), our Supreme Court noted that a strong-arm robbery conviction was not a crime of dishonesty or a false statement under Rule 609 (a)(2), SCRE, and therefore the trial court was required to conduct an analysis under Rule 609 (a)(1), SCRE.

Although the convictions in this case were not more than ten years old, none of the convictions had a tendency to prove or show the witness's propensity for truthfulness or credibility. See State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 21, 732 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012). Again, the purpose of impeachment is not to show the witness is a bad person, but rather to show background facts which indicate the witness's credibility is likely lacking. State v. Black, 400 S.C. at 22, 732 S.E.2d at 887.

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