**RECEIVED**

**Feb 26 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001474

The State, .....Respondent,

v.

James J. Patterson, III, .....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

(R.p.283, line 5-p.284, line 1). Thus, the court clearly made the determination required by Rule 609(a)(1) for admission of the prior convictions, and it clearly balanced the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial impact before ruling it should be admitted. Although the trial court did not specifically list or reference the five *Colf* factors, its analysis addressed at least one of those factors directly, clearly touched on others, and was fully supported by *any* consideration of all five factors, particularly given the court’s efforts to “sanitize” any possible prejudice by limiting the State to merely eliciting testimony that Howell had four recent prior convictions carrying more than one year in prison, rather than by identifying those crimes. Each factor is addressed below.

### **1. The impeachment value of the prior crimes.**

The trial court clearly concluded the four prior crimes had impeachment value even if it did not extensively describe this finding on the record—otherwise, it would not have ruled them

admissible. Whatever the case, it certainly did not abuse its discretion in finding Howell’s prior convictions had impeachment value that supported admission under Rule 609(a)(1). While the concept of crimes of moral turpitude arguably “became irrelevant for impeachment of witnesses” following the adoption of Rule 609 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence,<sup>2</sup> the State submits it still has relevance in determining the impeachment value of prior crimes when a trial court is considering admission under Rule 609(a)(1) rather than 609(a)(2), where the prior crimes at issue are not explicitly crimes of dishonesty or false statement. Moral turpitude involves an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the social duties which a man owes to his fellow man or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man. *State v. Harvey*, 275 S.C. 225, 227 n.1, 268 S.E.2d 587, 588 n.1 (1980) (quoting Miller on Criminal Law 24 (1934)). “Most offenses found to involve moral turpitude seem to include some form of *dishonest* behavior.” McAninch, Fairey, & Coggiola, *The Criminal Law of South Carolina* 50, (6<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2013) (emphasis added). Consequently, crimes of moral turpitude would typically carry some impeachment value. Indeed, logic dictates that where honesty is one of the “accepted and customary rules of right and duty between man and man,” a person’s credibility might be negatively impacted where he or she has been convicted, beyond a reasonable doubt, of committing an act of moral turpitude.

#### **a. Strong-Arm Robbery**

As noted by our supreme court in *Robinson*, although the crime of strong-arm robbery is not a crime of dishonesty or false statement which would result in automatic admissibility under Rule 609(a)(2), it is nonetheless a crime that carries impeachment value because it implies the witness is not someone to be trusted – that he might not be credible. *Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 599-

---

<sup>2</sup>McAninch, Fairey, & Coggiola, *The Criminal Law of South Carolina* 49, (6<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2013).

600, 828 S.E.2d at 213-14. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Howell's conviction for strong-arm robbery had impeachment value.

**b. Possession of less than one gram of methamphetamine or cocaine base**

Although it previously held otherwise,<sup>3</sup> our supreme court later concluded that simple possession of cocaine is indeed a crime of moral turpitude even though it primarily involves self-destructive behavior, because the harmful impact of the cocaine business on society as a whole is fostered by each individual's use of it. *State v. Major*, 301 S.C. 181, 184-85, 391 S.E.2d 235, 237-38 (1990). Consequently, one who possesses cocaine base is derelict in his "duty to society and fellow men." *Id.*; *See also Green v. Hewitt*, 305 S.C. 238, 242, 407 S.E.2d 651, 652 (1991) (retaining the focus of a moral turpitude analysis on the social duties one owes to society and one's fellow man). Because it is a crime of moral turpitude, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Howell's conviction for possession of less than one gram of methamphetamine or cocaine base had impeachment value.

**c. Failure to stop for blue light**

Where a witness has previously been convicted of failing to stop for a blue light it implies, in a similar fashion to a conviction for strong-arm robbery, the witness is not someone to be trusted. *Cf. Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 599-600, 828 S.E.2d at 213-14 (finding a conviction for strong-arm robbery implies a witness might not be credible). Indeed, stopping for a law enforcement officer who has engaged the blue lights on his or her vehicle and is in pursuit clearly implicates social duties a person, as a member of society, owes to his fellow man or to society in general. Fleeing or failing to stop for those blue lights is contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man. Not only is it a base and vile act that

---

<sup>3</sup> *State v. Ball*, 292 S.C. 71, 354 S.E.2d 906 (1987) (holding possession of cocaine is not a crime of moral turpitude), overruled by *State v. Major*, 301 S.C. 181, 391 S.E.2d 235 (1990).

places all other drivers at risk of death or great bodily injury, more importantly it shows fraudulent behavior through evasion and dishonesty. *See State v. Horton*, 271 S.C. 413, 414-15, 248 S.E.2d 263, 263-64 (1978) (finding the offense of “hit and run” involves moral turpitude and was properly admitted into evidence as bearing on credibility). In *Horton*, the supreme court explained: “An act in which fraud is an ingredient involved moral turpitude. One who leaves the scene of an accident is fraudulently attempting to relieve himself of any liability.” *Id.* (internal citation omitted).<sup>4</sup> Similarly, one who fails to stop for a blue light is fraudulently attempting to relieve himself of any liability. Because failing to stop for a blue light involves moral turpitude, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Howell’s conviction for that crime had impeachment value.

#### **d. Possession with intent to distribute**

Our supreme court has held that a trial court correctly allowed the prosecution to attempt to impeach the defendant with evidence of his earlier conviction for possession with intent to distribute marijuana. *State v. Lilly*, 278 S.C. 499, 500, 299 S.E.2d 329, 330 (1983). It concluded possession with intent to distribute marijuana is a crime of moral turpitude because it involves the duty which a person owes to other people and to society in general. *Id.*; *See also In the Matter of Byrd*, 308 S.C. 470, 419 S.E.2d 228 (1992) (finding, in an attorney disciplinary matter, that an attorney who pled guilty to possession of cocaine with intent to distribute: “By his conduct, respondent has violated the Rules of Professional Conduct by committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his *honesty, trustworthiness*, or fitness as a lawyer and by engaging in

---

<sup>4</sup> In a civil case, this court affirmed a trial court’s exclusion of evidence of a prior conviction for failure to stop for a blue light; however, this decision was made under the abuse of discretion standard of review where the record failed to disclose the trial judge’s reasons for excluding the evidence. It was *not* a finding that failure to stop for a blue light is not a crime of moral turpitude. *State v. Novich*, 300 S.C. 334, 336-37, 387 S.E.2d 704, 705-06 (Ct. App. 1989).

conduct involving moral turpitude.”) (emphasis added). Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Howell’s conviction for possession with intent to distribute had impeachment value.

**2. The point in time of the conviction and the witness’s subsequent history.**

In *Robinson*, our supreme court found Robinson’s prior convictions, which occurred four years and two years before the trial, “revealed a continuing pattern of criminal behavior that could legitimately impact his credibility in the eyes of the jury.” *Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 600, 828 S.E.2d at 214. A similar analysis here illustrates both a close temporal proximity between Howell’s prior offenses themselves— four offenses with impeachment value that were committed every year or so from 2016 through 2019—and a close temporal proximity between those prior offenses and the offense for which Appellant was on trial—a crime for which Howell was also present. Howell’s prior offenses were committed seven years, five years, and four years before Howell testified at Appellant’s trial. As in *Robinson*, these two sets of points in time reveal a pattern of continuing criminal behavior that could legitimately evoke questions of Howell’s credibility in the eyes of the jury. The State submits the trial court did not abuse its discretion in weighing this factor as it did even if it did not explicitly reference it from *Colf*.

**3. The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime.**

Here, Howell’s prior convictions had very little or no similarity to the charges for which Appellant was on trial. Consequently, they would have had minimal prejudicial impact even if they were identified. In any event, the trial judge effectively “sanitized” any possible prejudice to Appellant by limiting the State to eliciting testimony only that Howell had prior convictions carrying more than one year in prison. Consequently, the introduction of the convictions should not even be an issue in this appeal. See *Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 597, 828 S.E.2d at 212 (“As

previously noted, the 2009 second-degree burglary conviction was “sanitized” when the trial court allowed the State to elicit testimony that Robinson had a prior felony conviction carrying more than one year in prison. The introduction of this conviction is not an issue in this appeal.”).

#### **4. The importance of the witness’s testimony**

Here, Appellant testified in his own defense. He claimed Victim had a gun sitting on the table beside him during the dice game and that later, after he heard gunshots, he saw Albert running across the yard carrying a gun. (R.p.326, line 7-p.329, line 24). Appellant claimed he never had a gun at all. (R.p.333, lines 12-13). Howell offered similar testimony, claiming that when he came out of the house after retrieving his bag, Albert started shooting at their car. (R.p.290-p.295). Thus, Howell’s testimony was largely cumulative to Appellant’s testimony, rendering Howell’s testimony less important to Appellant’s case. *Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 603, 828 S.E.2d at 215-16. Indeed, Howell’s testimony was not necessary to Appellant’s defense. With or without Howell’s testimony, the jury had to resolve the issue of Appellant’s credibility, as well as the issue of Strother’s and Albert’s credibility, which provided direct evidence of Appellant’s guilt. The State submits that under all of these circumstances, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in analyzing this factor in favor of admissibility even if it did not explicitly reference this factor from *Colf*.

#### **5. The centrality of the credibility issue.**

The trial court concluded credibility of the witnesses was central to the case. It specifically noted: “. . . a large part of this case is based on statements and *credibility of* up until the point I think three witnesses and may involve the defense witnesses as well, and so I find that under Rule 609 the fact that he was convicted of crimes that carry more than one year, that that is admissible and I find that in weighing those that that goes to *the probative value for a jury to*

*determine his credibility.*” (R.p.283, line 5-p.284, line 1) (emphasis added). The trial court clearly concluded the four prior crimes had impeachment value even if it did not extensively describe this finding—otherwise, it would not have ruled them admissible. Because credibility was central to the case, the introduction of prior convictions for impeachment purposes becomes even more legitimate. *Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 606, 828 S.E.2d at 217.

In conclusion, in regard to the five-factor *Colf* analysis, the State submits the record demonstrates the trial court sufficiently considered each of the *Colf* factors in making its decision under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, and in determining the probative impeachment value of Howell’s prior convictions was *not* substantially outweighed by the danger or undue prejudice. That decision was not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed.

#### **B. Harmless Error**

To the extent this Court finds the trial court erred in failing to conduct a sufficiently thorough on-the-record balancing of the *Colf* factors, the State submits the conviction should nevertheless be affirmed because that error was harmless in light of: (1) the eyewitness testimony presented at trial, (2) the physical evidence and expert testimony presented at trial; (3) the cumulative nature of the evidence; and (4) the absence of any effort by the State to highlight or reference the convictions during closing arguments.

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Only errors so substantial that they result in a verdict which would not otherwise have been rendered require reversal. *State v. Jolly*, 304 S.C. 34, 39, 402 S.E.2d 895, 898 (Ct. App. 1991). “A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case.” *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 447–48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). “No definite rule of law governs [a

finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *Id.* at 447–48, 710 S.E.2d at 60 (quoting *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193–94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) ). A defendant seeking reversal based on error in admission of evidence has the burden of showing that evidence was prejudicial. *State v. McElveen*, 280 S.C. 325, 327, 313 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1984).

The State presented overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt. Two eyewitnesses saw Appellant shooting a gun towards Victim. (R.p.74-p.80; p.160-p.171; p.178-p.179). Expert testimony established that every bullet and shell casing collected from the scene was fired through the same gun barrel. (R.p.245-p.261). Appellant’s phone was recovered from the crime scene, surrounded by the spent shell casings, the night of the shooting. (R.p.195, lines 12-19). Additionally, Howell’s testimony was cumulative to Appellant’s testimony. Given the overwhelming evidence of guilt and the nature of Howell’s testimony, the State submits the mention of Howell’s prior convictions could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial, and any error was harmless. *Byers*, 392 S.C. at 447-48, 710 S.E.2d at 243; *See State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict).

### **C. Remand**

To the extent this Court disagrees with all of the arguments above and concludes the trial court’s failure to conduct a detailed on-the-record balancing of the *Colf* factors was error, and that the error was *not* harmless, the proper remedy is remand to the trial court for an on-the-record *Colf* balancing test rather than immediate remand for a new trial. *State v. Howard*, 384 S.C. 212, 220, 682 S.E.2d 42, 47 (Ct. App. 2009).

#### **D. Conclusion**

In Appellant's case, the trial court considered the appropriate *Colf* factors and ultimately determined that the probative value of Howell's prior convictions was *not* substantially outweighed by the prejudice to Appellant. This is all that was required under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE. Accordingly, where the trial court considered the appropriate factors and ruled that the prior convictions were more probative than prejudicial, the court did not abuse its discretion, and its ruling should be upheld. To the extent this Court determines the analysis was insufficient and constitutes error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Even if not harmless, the appropriate remedy at this stage is simply a remand for a more thorough analysis of the *Colf* factors. The trial court did not abuse its discretion. For all of these reasons, Appellant's convictions should either be affirmed or this matter should be remanded for further proceedings.

## CONCLUSION

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